I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Jacob Ponce died, at the age of seven, when his snow sled entered 

a state highway and he was struck by an oncoming car after sledding down 

an access path at the base of a sledding area operated by The 

Mountaineers. This horrible accident could have been prevented if The 

Mountaineers had maintained a barrier at the base of the path. Sadly, The 

Mountaineers did not do so even though one of its employees had 

recognized this risk and had warned The Mountaineers that someone 

might sled into the roadway at the base of the path just as Jacob did. 

Jacob's parents, David Ponce and Karim Zapana - both individually and 

as co-personal representatives of the Estate of Jacob Ponce - sued The 

Mountaineers for negligence. As a result of trial court error, the jury 

found in favor of The Mountaineers. 

The trial court committed reversible error by admitting expert 

testimony regarding a purported industry standard without sufficient 

foundational evidence establishing that a relevant industry standard exists. 

The Mountaineers' expert, Chris Stoddard, testified that the access path 

was "very typical of what I've seen all over the place" and "was a good 

example of industry best practices." 5/28 RP at 109, 111. But as set forth 

below, Mr. Stoddard did not identify a single sledding area operator that 



did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path that funneled 

directly into a roadway. His testimony regarding "industry best practices" 

therefore should have been excluded. 

At the very least, the trial court's judgment should be vacated and 

the matter should be remanded so that a jury can decide Plaintiffs' 

negligence claim without Mr. Stoddard's improper and highly prejudicial 

testimony. Better yet, the Court should vacate the trial court's judgment 

and remand the matter for a new trial on the issue of damages only. That 

is because, comparing the cost of avoiding harm to the probability and 

gravity of such harm, as the Washington Supreme Court did in Helling v. 

Carey, 83 Wn.2d 514, 519 P.2d 981 (1974), The Mountaineers was 

negligent as a matter of law irrespective of any alleged industry standard. 

Such a ruling would not only allow Plaintiffs to seek appropriate 

compensation for their losses, it would ensure that sledding area operators 

in Washington do not let what happened to Jacob happen to anyone else. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in denying Plaintiffs' Motion In 

Limine Re: Opinions Of Defense Expert Paul Stoddard. CP 713-14. 

2. The trial court erred in denying Plaintiffs' Motion For A 

New Trial. CP 965-69. 
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3. The trial court erred in entering judgment against Plaintiffs. 

CP 930-32. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether the Court should vacate the trial court's judgment 

and remand the matter for a new trial because the trial court committed 

reversible error by admitting expert testimony regarding a purported 

industry standard without sufficient foundational evidence establishing 

that a relevant industry standard exists. (Assignments of Error Nos. 1-3.) 

2. Whether, in the alternative, the Court should vacate the trial 

court's judgment and remand the matter for a new trial on the issue of 

damages only because undisputed evidence establishes that The 

Mountaineers was negligent as a matter of law irrespective of any alleged 

industry standard. (Assignments of Error Nos. 1-3.) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Snoqualmie Campus. 

The Mountaineers owns and operates a sledding area called the 

Snoqualmie Campus. 5/21 RP at 9. The facility is adjacent to a highway, 

Washington State Route 906 ("SR 906"). Id. at 15. Customers park along 

that highway and are directed to access the Campus by hiking up a snow

covered pathway. Jd at 61. The sledding area is located at the top of this 
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path, approximately 1,000 feet from the roadway. 5/21 RP at 15-16. The 

following diagram shows SR 906, the access path, and the sledding area: 

Ex. 14. As can be seen, a customer who intentionally or accidentally sleds 

down the access path is funneled directly into SR 906. Id 

Moreover, the access path was especially dangerous. Mary Lynch, 

the former Chair of The Mountaineers' Snoqualmie Group who oversaw 
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the operation of the Snoqualmie Campus, acknowledged at trial that "it's a 

thousand feet up a steep incline." 5/21 RP at 16. She likewise admitted 

that "[i]t was groomed snow." Id. As summarized at trial: "you've got a 

slope that is 10 to 20 percent, compacted groomed snow, straight shot 

right onto the highway." 5/20 RP at 93. And if a sled slips out of 

someone's hand or otherwise breaks free, "you're not catching up to it." 

5/20 RP at 96. 

The Mountaineers recognized this precise risk that someone might 

sled into the roadway at the base of the path just as Jacob did. Addressing 

that critical issue, Ms. Lynch testified: 

Q. You were concerned that somebody might take a right 
or a left turn, come down, get on the pathway. 

A. Correct. 

Q. Get on the pathway and end up in the road. 

A. Correct. 

Q. And have them be injured or killed, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Just like what happened to Jacob. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And you were so concerned about that that 
you talked to The Mountaineers about that. 

A. About the trespassers on the trail? Yes. 

Q. Yeah. And you told them that you were concerned 
that one of them would end up in the road and hit by a 
car. 

A. Yes. 
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Q. You were concerned, Ms. Lynch, because you 
recognized that the trail was long, true? Your 
pathway was long? 

A. Mm-hmm. 

Q. And steep. 

A. Yes. 

Q. With compacted snow. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that it fed directly into State Route 906. 

A. Yes. 

Id. at 32-33 (emphasis added). Martinique Grigg, the executive director of 

The Mountaineers, likewise acknowledged that Ms. Lynch and other 

Snoqualmie Campus committee members "shared with me their concern 

about trespassers." 5/22 RP at 115 (Grigg deposition testimony). 

The record at trial also establishes that The Mountaineers could 

have maintained a barrier at the base of the access path at no cost. 

Specifically, The Mountaineers had a contract with a company called "Ski 

Lifts" whereby Ski Lifts provided free grooming services to The 

Mountaineers in exchange for allowing it to cross The Mountaineers' 

property to perform work for its paying customers. Ex. 1. Ski Lifts could 

have created a snow berm at the base of the access path, at no ongoing 

cost to The Mountaineers, to safely prevent sleds from entering the 

roadway. 5/20 RP at 130. Instead, as Ms. Lynch testified, The 

6 



Mountaineers directed Ski Lifts to "to avoid the creation of a berm ... at 

the terminus of the pathway with State Route 906." 5/21 RP at 19 

(emphasis added). 

Ms. Grigg confirmed this agreement with Ski Lifts even after Ms. 

Lynch and others had relayed their concerns that someone might sled into 

the roadway at the base of the path just as Jacob did: 

Q. So you had that information available to you, knew 
about it, when you negotiated the contract? 

A. That's right. 

Q. The contract, nevertheless, still provided for the 
removal of a bern1 at the bottom of the access path. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And provided for the access path to funnel directly 
into State Route 906? 

A. The access path does end there, yes. 

5/28 RP at 50. Ms. Lynch likewise testified: "we specifically requested 

that [referring to the access path grooming] to allow for pedestrian 

access." 5/22 RP at 118-19. 

The Mountaineers also posted several sIgns to attract paymg 

customers and direct them to the sledding area. Near the base of the 

access path, The Mountaineers posted the following sign: 
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Ex. 49; 5/20 RP at 140. Further up, there was a similar sign: 
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Ex. SOl; 5/20 RP at 140. Lastly, approximately 300 feet up the path, The 

Mountaineers posted a warning sign stating: "For the safety of all NO 

SNOW PLAY of any kind is PERMITTED on or along the sides of the 

road." Ex. 53 (emphasis in original); 5/21 RP at 24-25. As discussed 

below, Jacob and his family never reached that warning sign. 

B. Jacob Ponce's Tragic Death. 

Jacob's family visited the Snoqualmie Campus in February 2011. 

5/27 RP at 34. Like other customers, they parked along SR 906 and were 

directed by a representative of The Mountaineers to walk up the snow-

covered pathway to the sledding area. 5/22 RP at 23; 5127 RP at 36-38. 

After hiking approximately 65 feet from the highway, Jacob grew tired 

and unexpectedly sat down on the sled that was being pulled up the path 

by his older sister, Shaina. 5/20 RP at 92; 5/22 RP at 29; 5127 RP at 40. 

The rope slipped from Shaina's hand and Jacob began sliding down the 

steep pathway towards the highway just as Ms. Lynch had foreseen and 

warned The Mountaineers could happen. 5/22 RP at 29; 5/27 RP at 40. 

Jacob's father described what happened next as follows: 

I Some of the exhibits that are reproduced in this brief include proposed exhibit 
numbers within the exhibit. The citations in the text of this brief are to the exhibit 
numbers as admitted. The other exhibit numbers should be ignored. 
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Q. When you realized that Jacob was on the sled, Mr. 
Ponce, what did you do? 

A. At that moment, I thought I would be able to hold 
onto him, grab him with my hand. And I was able to 
get a hold of him. But I was wearing gloves, and I 
wasn't able to hold onto him. 

Then I walked and ran. I saw everything at that 
moment. It was like in a movie, jumping onto him, 
pushing him off to the left-hand side, push him to the 
right-hand side. But I kept going, and I was able to 
step on the rope. The first time I felt that something 
pulled. And I ran harder, and I jumped on the rope. I 
twist my feet against the snow, and I stopped it. 

And the whole time he was looking at me and 
laughing. He was saying, "Papi, I'm having fun." 
And I said, "Honey, get off. Get off, honey." But I 
was able to stop the rope, and I crouched over. And 
then when I crouched over, the rope came loose. And 
then I tried to move to react, but I wasn't able to 
because I was crouched over. 

He shot off like a bullet. I couldn't even believe 
what I was seeing. 

Q. Did you chase after him, Mr. Ponce? 

A. Yes, but he was going so fast. And by the time I 
stopped, he was so far away from me. 

Q. Did you see the car hit your son, Mr. Ponce? 

A. I ran after him, and I prayed to God. I said, "God, 
please forgive me if I'm done something wrong. 
Save my child." I had -- I hoped that he might be 
saved, but I saw when the man hit him. 

5/22 RP at 29-30. Jacob's mother likewise testified: 

Q. I know this is difficult. But can you just kind of walk 
us through what happened? 

A. We were going up, and I saw Jacob sitting down and 
going down the hill. I scream. David -- my son, he 
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tried to save him. He run. And I frozen -- I couldn't 
move. I was screaming. In my mind, I want to jump. 
I want to do something but I couldn't move. 
(inaudible) running behind him. And I heard the car. 
I run. (inaudible) 

I hold him, start talking, saying "Jacob, please, 
wake up, answer me." He was warm. He (inaudible) 
always wait for me. I said, Jacob, he's going to 
answer me. He was answer me when I call him. I 
said, "Jacob, remember you promised, wake up." He 
wasn't moving. 

5/27 RP at 40.2 Just as Ms. Lynch had predicted would someday happen, 

Jacob's parents watched in horror as Jacob's sled entered the roadway and 

he was run over by a passing car. 5/22 RP at 30; 5/27 RP at 40. 

Lian Ng was the driver of the car that hit Jacob. 5119 RP at 131-

33. Mr. Ng testified "suddenly I felt I ran over a bump at the back of my 

car. And then I didn't know what it was. So I asked my two daughters to 

look back. And they said, 'Oh my God, it was a child. '" Id. at 131. Mr. 

Ng testified that there was no indication that he was "approaching a 

pathway or a driveway or anything like that" and that he did not see 

"anything coming into the road." Id. When asked ifthere were "any signs 

approaching the trailhead that warned drivers," another driver likewise 

testified: "No." 5/20 RP at 46. 

2 Jacob's mother grew up in Peru and did not learn English until her family 
moved to California. 5/27 RP 16-18. 
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Jacob left the scene of the accident in an ambulance. 5/22 RP at 

31. His parents were not permitted to ride with him, so they followed in 

their own vehicle. Id. While driving to the hospital, Jacob's parents 

received a call from the police, who asked them to pull off the road before 

continuing the call. 5/22 RP at 31; 5/27 RP at 41. At that point, the police 

informed Jacob's parents that Jacob had died as a result of his injuries. 

5/22 RP at 31; 5/27 RP at 42. 

C. The Ordinary Care Issue. 

Plaintiffs filed suit in May 2012, alleging that The Mountaineers 

was negligent and that its negligence proximately caused Jacob's death. 

CP 1-4. The central issue at trial was whether The Mountaineers failed to 

use ordinary care, and was therefore negligent, because it did not maintain 

a barrier at the base of its access path even though the path funneled 

directly into SR 906 and even though The Mountaineers was aware of the 

risk that someone would accidentally sled into the roadway at the base of 

the path just as Jacob did. CP 30-34, 62-63. 

The ordinary care issue, in tum, was governed by Washington 

pattern jury instructions. As required by WPI 10.01, the jury was 

instructed: 
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Negligence is the failure to exercise ordinary care. It is the 
doing of some act that a reasonably careful person would 
not do under the same or similar circumstances or the 
failure to do some act that a reasonably careful person 
would have done under the same or similar circumstances. 

CP 899. As required by WPI 10.02, the jury was further instructed: 

Ordinary care for an adult or for a legal entity such as a 
corporation means the care a reasonably careful adult 
person or corporation would exercise under the same or 
similar circumstances. 

CP 902. The trial court also instructed the jury that the owner or operator 

of a sledding area owes its invitees "a duty to exercise ordinary care for 

[the invitees'] safety. CP 906. 

The parties addressed the ordinary care issue through expert 

testimony. Plaintiffs, for their part, retained Dr. Richard Gill, a professor 

of engineering and human factors, to testify regarding the design and 

layout of the Snoqualmie Campus access road. 5/20 RP at 60-62, 68. Dr. 

Gill testified that The Mountaineers created a "hazardous condition": "a 

slope that is 10 to 20 percent, compacted groomed snow, straight shot 

right onto the highway." Id at 68, 93. He further explained that this risk 

was "known to The Mountaineers," as reflected in Ms. Lynch's and Ms. 

Grigg's testimony, and "functionally hidden to the typical patron." Id. at 

68,99-102. 
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Having identified the hazardous condition, Dr. Gill explained how 

a reasonably careful person would eliminate that risk. First, The 

Mountaineers could have created a curved bank to direct customers 

(whether on sled or not) parallel to the highway - something that The 

Mountaineers could have done at no ongoing cost. Id. at 128-30. Second, 

The Mountaineers could have used hay bales or fencing to guard against 

the hazard. Id. at 132-37. Indeed, as Dr. Gill noted, The Mountaineers 

erected orange vinyl fencing at the end of every business day, so they 

could simply have left that fencing in place. Id at 132-33. 

Dr. Gill prepared the following exhibits to illustrate his testimony: 

Ex. 44 (5/20 RP at 123-24) - access path with curved bank 
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Ex. 47 (5/20 RP at 134-37) - access path with fencing 

Ex. 48 (5/20 RP at 134-37) - access path with hay bales 
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Unfortunately, The Mountaineers did not do any of these things. As a 

result, the access path looked like this: 

Ex. 46; 5/20 RP at 127-31. In short, The Mountaineers created a hazard 

by grooming the access trail and removing the snow berm at the base of 

the trail and then failed to take reasonable steps to eliminate that hazard. 

5/20 RP at 119-20. This approach to the safety of its customers, according 

to Dr. Gill, was "grossly inadequate." !d. at 148. 
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Lastly, Dr. Gill also testified that The Mountaineers should have 

prominently posted "no sledding signs" at the base of the access path. Id. 

at 144-46. But rather than do so, the only signs at the base of the access 

path, as shown on page 8 above, showed an individual on a sled and 

indicated "F AMIL Y FRlENDL Y" and "PUBLIC WELCOME." Exs. 49-

50. As Dr. Gill testified, even if warnings were an adequate solution (as 

opposed to not creating the hazard in the first place and/or guarding 

against it), "what [The Mountaineers] did for warnmgs was 

counterproductive by putting up signs at the very beginning saying 

'Sledding hill, family invited. '" 5/20 RP at 149. 

The Mountaineers, for its part, retained Chris Stoddard to testify 

that the access path at the Snoqualmie Campus was consistent with 

"industry best practices." CP 456-57 ~ 6. But Mr. Stoddard did not - and 

could not - identify at his deposition any other sledding operation where 

the access path funneled directly into a roadway. CP 290-3l3. Plaintiffs 

therefore filed a motion in limine to exclude his testimony regarding a 

purported industry standard. In that motion, Plaintiffs argued: 

The Mountaineers cannot point to a single other 
commercial sledding operation, much less the several 
necessary to establish "custom," that has an access road or 
pathway that feeds directly into a highway and failed to 
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place any barricades to protect its patrons from unwittingly 
entering the highway. Thus, there is no uniform practice in 
the industry or anything close to it. 

CP 325. At oral argument, Plaintiffs' counsel again asserted that any such 

"industry standard" testimony should be excluded because "there's no way 

for us to cross him on that, because he couldn't identify a specific area 

that he was referring to." 5115 RP at 106; see also id. at 119 (objecting to 

opinion testimony "based on every place that I've gone ... without giving 

us some sort of foundation to test whether ... what he's saying is true"). 

The Mountaineers, in response, did not identify any such specific 

area in briefing or argument. In briefing, The Mountaineers argued that 

Mr. Stoddard "simply relies on his professional experience." CP 429 n.2. 

At oral argument, counsel likewise stated: "his opinions on an industry 

standard are based on looking at over a hundred facilities." 5115 RP at 

113. Lastly, The Mountaineers also submitted a declaration in which Mr. 

Stoddard claimed, once more, that he relied on "hundreds of inspections 

across the country" without identifying a single sledding area operator that 

did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path that funneled 

directly into a roadway. CP 460 ~ 16. 
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The trial court denied Plaintiffs' motion as follows: 

Mr. Stoddard is qualified to opine regarding the 
manner in which other mountain recreation areas handle 
situations that are similar to the one at issue in this case. 
His training and experience with other similar recreation 
areas allows him to speak to the dangerousness of 
suggested safety measures, the adequacy of warning signs, 
and the way in which other recreation areas have handled 
similar access paths. After significant consideration, the 
Court will also allow Mr. Stoddard to refer to "industry 
standards," in describing his understanding of what other 
recreation areas do in similar situations. 

CP 713. The trial court thus allowed Mr. Stoddard to testify regarding 

"industry standards" despite Plaintiffs' argument that there was no 

foundational evidence establishing that a relevant industry standard exists. 

Nor did Mr. Stoddard provide that foundational evidence at trial. 

Instead, Mr. Stoddard testified regarding access roads that (a) led to a ski 

resort rather than a sledding area (5/28 RP at 101-08), (b) funneled into a 

parking lot rather than a roadway (id. at 129-30), (c) were located above 

the sledding area and therefore funneled into the sledding hill (id. at 135), 

and/or (d) zigzagged toward the roadway rather than approaching it 

directly (id. at 154). Mr. Stoddard nevertheless testified, as permitted by 

the trial court's ruling denying Plaintiffs' motion in limine, that the access 

path at the Snoqualmie Campus was "very typical of what I've seen all 
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over the place" and "was a good example of industry best practices." Id. 

at 109, 111. 

D. The Jury's Defense Verdict. 

At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a defense verdict, 

concluding that The Mountaineers was not negligent. CP 918. On June 

19, 2014, the trial court entered judgment on the jury's verdict. CP 930-

32. Plaintiffs then filed a motion for a new trial, which the trial court 

denied on July 18, 2014. CP 934-44, 965-69. This timely appeal 

followed. CP 970-91. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Should Vacate The Trial Court's Judgment And 
Remand The Matter For A New Trial Because The Trial Court 
Abused Its Discretion By Admitting Highly Prejudicial Expert 
Testimony Regarding A Purported Industry Standard Without 
Sufficient Foundational Evidence Establishing That A 
Relevant Industry Standard Exists. 

The admissibility of Mr. Stoddard's industry standard testimony is 

governed by several additive legal principles. First, under ER 702, an 

expert's opinion must be "helpful to the trier of fact." Queen City Farms,

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