#### No. 72415-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID PONCE and KARMIN ZAPANA, individually and as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of JACOB PONCE, a deceased minor child,

Appellants,

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By contrast, plaintiffs argued that no one operated a facility similar to the Mountaineers facility and that the Snoqualmie Campus was "unique" 5/15 RP 117:21 – 118:5. There was no evidence to support that argument since plaintiffs' expert's had no basis to form an opinion about "uniqueness." Richard Gill admitted that he had never gone to look at other commercial tubing or sledding operations, didn't do any research, and didn't do any comparison of the Snoqualmie Campus to any other facility. 5/20 RP 154 – 155.

# B. Plaintiffs Waived the Objection to Mr. Stoddard's Testimony by Failing to Preserve the Objection at Trial

Plaintiffs claim that the trial court erred in allowing Mr. Stoddard to testify because his opinions lacked foundation. However, no foundation objection was made during Mr. Stoddard's testimony, and thus the objection has not been preserved for appeal. Error raised for the first time on appeal will generally not be considered. See RAP 2.5(a); Eldredge v. Kamp Kachess Youth Servs., Inc., 90 Wn.2d 402, 583 P.2d 626 (1978); In re Welfare of Young, 24 Wn. App. 392, 397, 600 P.2d 1312, 1315 (1979) ("general rule requires that the alleged error first be brought to the trial court's attention at a time that will afford that court an opportunity to correct it"); Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 333–34, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) ("failure to make contemporaneous objections usually waives any error").

In order to preserve review of the trial court's ruling admitting evidence, a party must make a timely objection or motion to strike stating the specific ground of the objection if the specific ground was not apparent from the context. ER 103(a)(1). Although it was *plaintiffs*' burden to challenge Mr. Stoddard's foundation if they believed it was lacking, ER 103(a)(1), no timely foundation objection was made during Mr. Stoddard's testimony.

Plaintiffs are expected to argue that they preserved the issue through a denied motion *in limine* that asked the trial court to prohibit defense expert Mr. Stoddard from testifying. CP 319. But a denied motion *in limine* to exclude an expert is not a cure-all for a party's failure to contemporaneously object at trial. *DeHaven v. Gant*, 42 Wn. App. 666, 670, 713 P.2d 149, 152 (1986) ("It should be noted that the making of a pretrial motion to exclude certain evidence does not necessarily preserve any claim of error."). While it is true that plaintiffs did challenge Mr. Stoddard's qualifications to render an opinion in this case, it did *not* relieve them of their burden to make a specific, contemporaneous objection to his testimony based on his visitation of other sledding areas over the course of his decades in the field. They should have made that objection if they wished to preserve the issue on appeal. Because they did not do so, they have waived any right to challenge it here.

Division I dealt with an analytically similar issue in *Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 817, 325 P.3d 278, 300 (2014). In that case, the defendant's motion *in limine* was granted, but, "Under these circumstances, the ruling *in limine* did not excuse Safeco from making a more contemporaneous objection." *Id.* The *Miller* court reasoned that there was a distinction between the argument made in the motion *in limine* and the argument made at trial, which put the onus on the defendant to

contemporaneously object. The trial court here qualified Mr. Stoddard (and Richard Gill) to give expert opinions; the court's ruling did not relieve counsel of the burden of laying a foundation for the expert's testimony at trial, and by the same token did not relieve opposing counsel of the duty to object to a perceived lack of foundation.

Plaintiffs argue on appeal that in order for Mr. Stoddard's opinions to be admissible at trial, Mr. Stoddard was required to identify two or more sledding area operators that did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path that funneled directly into a roadway. *Appellants' Brief* at p. 32 (also pp. 21, 26, 29). However, ER 705 demonstrates that plaintiffs' position is incorrect. ER 705 states:

The expert may testify in terms of opinion or inference and give reasons therefor without prior disclosure of the underlying facts or data, unless the judge requires otherwise. The expert may in any event be required to disclose the underlying facts or data on cross examination. [Emphasis added.]

As noted by the court in *Cornejo v. State*, 57 Wn. App. 314, 329, 788 P.2d 554 (1990), "Modern evidence rules permit an expert to state an opinion without prior disclosure of the underlying facts, leaving to the opposing party the responsibility of questioning the basis of the opinion."

Mr. Stoddard testified at trial that it was not at "uncommon" to have a steep, snow covered slope or trail that comes directly out onto a

highway 5/28 RP 108:21-109:3, and that based on his 39 years of experience and investigations he had never see any of the ideas proposed by Richard Gill in use on a trail, that Gill's ideas would not be considered an industry norm or best practice, and that the Mountaineers' trail was a good example of industry best practices. *Id.* at 110; 111:12-20. Pursuant to ER 705, it was up to plaintiffs' counsel to inquire further on cross-examination. Having failed to make any timely objections while Mr. Stoddard was testifying at trial (ER 103(a)(1)), and having failed to ask the expert to disclose the underlying facts or data on cross examination (ER 705), plaintiffs' objections to Mr. Stoddard's testimony have been waived.

## C. Plaintiffs Had a Remedy Easily Available at Trial and Thus Have Waived the Objections

It is well established that a party waives error on an issue on appeal when the appealing party had a remedy easily available to it at trial. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Van Auken*, 77 Wn.2d 136, 144, 460 P.2d 277, 282 (1969) (failure of party to bring the claimed error to the trial court's attention waived issue where the error could have been "cured at trial if the court had been given the opportunity."); *Adair v. Weinberg*, 79 Wn. App. 197, 204, 901 P.2d 340, 344 (1995) ("In the absence of a correctly worded curative instruction, we conclude the Adairs inadequately preserved the

error arising from the improper defense argument."); *State v. Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d 488, 491, 150 P.3d 1116, 1117 (2007) (refusing to consider alleged error that "could have been cured at trial.").

The critical importance of the plaintiffs' failure to raise a foundation objection to Mr. Stoddard's testimony at trial is highlighted here. Plaintiffs could have easily cured (or asked the Court to cure) the alleged foundation defect at trial but chose not to. The argument is that Mr. Stoddard was required to "identify" by name, the other areas that were the basis for his testimony. *Appellants' Brief*, pp. 21, 24, 26, 29, 32. That objection is waived because plaintiffs never raised that objection at trial when there was an available remedy, and more importantly, never asked the witness to "identify" those areas. Plaintiffs remained silent – both failing to make a timely objection at trial, and failing to ask the question they now claim was critical to effective cross-examination. *Appellants' Brief*, p.32.

If, as plaintiffs argue, there were questions to be asked of Mr. Stoddard that were important to plaintiffs' effective cross-examination, then plaintiffs should have asked those questions. *See, e.g., State v. Eaton,* 30 Wn. App. 288, 294, 633 P. 2d 921 (1981) ("The assumption underlying ER 703, however, is that opposing counsel will forcefully bring that point to the jury's attention during cross examination of the

expert.").

ER 705 stands for the proposition that it was up to plaintiffs to inquire and point out any deficiencies in the facts or data underlying Mr. Stoddard's opinions. If plaintiffs wanted to know the names of the areas that Mr. Stoddard inspected and investigated, they should have asked. The Washington Supreme Court notes that ER 705 is identical to Federal Rule of Evidence 705, authorizing the admission of expert testimony without the prior disclosure of the facts or data that underlie the opinion. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 74, 882 P. 2d 747 (1994). ER 705 puts the onus for exploring the facts and assumptions underlying the expert's opinion "squarely on the shoulders of opposing counsel's cross-examination." *Newell Puerto Rico, Ltd. v. Rubbermaid Inc.*, 20 F.3d 15, 20 (1st Cir. 1994).<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs have waived their objections to Mr. Stoddard's testimony by failing to take advantage of the remedies available at trial.

### D. The Court Should Reject Plaintiffs' Newly Raised Argument Based on *Helling v. Carey*

Finally, the Court should decline plaintiffs' invitation to define the standard of care for sledding areas relying on a medical malpractice case called *Helling v. Carey*, 83 Wn.2d 512, 519 P.2d 981 (1974). The reliance is misplaced for three reasons: (1) the *Helling* case—or any argument

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rule 705 shifts the burden to the cross-examiner to ferret out whatever empirical deficiencies may lurk within an expert's opinion. *See* FRE 705, Adv. Comm. Notes; *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, 626 F.2d 784, 793 (10th Cir. 1980).

stemming from the case—was never presented to the trial court; (2) *Helling* "was intended to be restricted solely to its own unique facts [;]" and (3) installing a barricade is not simple, harmless, or without a judgment factor.

#### 1. Plaintiffs Did Not Raise *Helling* to the Trial Court.

The crux of plaintiffs' *Helling* argument is that even if the Mountaineers complied with the standard of care, the Court should hold the standard of care is wrong and substitute the plaintiffs' proposed standard of care (mandating barriers where pathways that ultimately lead to sledding areas meet roadways). That argument was never made to the trial court. It is being advanced for the first time on appeal.

Helling was decided in 1974. The jury rendered its verdict in this case in 2014. Plaintiffs had an opportunity to use the Helling case in the trial court phase but did not. They could have moved for summary judgment, citing Helling; they did not. They could have asked for a Helling jury instruction; they did not. They could have raised the case to the trial court's attention in their post-trial motions; they did not. Not once in the record does the Helling case or a Helling-style argument appear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Indeed, if a party wants to argue "that reasonable prudence may require a standard of care higher than that exercised by the relevant professional group," nothing prevents them from proposing a jury instruction on that point. *See Gates v. Jensen,* 92 Wn.2d 246, 247, 595 P.2d 919 (1979) (citing *Helling,* 83 Wn.2d 514).

The absence is due to the fact that plaintiffs are raising the case (and the issue) for the first time to the Court of Appeals.

"The case must be decided on the record made in the court below; and an appellant cannot seek a reversal here on a theory never presented to or considered by the trial court." Muck v. Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 41 Wn.2d 81, 88, 247 P.2d 233, 237 (1952) (internal citations omitted); Prater v. City of Kent, 40 Wn. App. 639, 642, 699 P.2d 1248, 1251 (1985) ("Having failed to raise this claim below, Prater may not now argue it on review."). An argument raised for the first time on appeal will normally not be reviewed absent unusual circumstances. Savage v. State, 72 Wn. App. 483, 495 n. 9, 864 P.2d 1009 (1994), reversed in part on other grounds, 127 Wn.2d 434, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995); RAP 2.5(a). The "unusual circumstances" addressed in Rule of Appellate Procedure 2.5 are: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. No unusual circumstances relieved plaintiffs of their duty to present the *Helling* argument to the trial court for consideration.

In *Helling*, medical experts had established during trial that the standards of the profession did not require routine glaucoma tests for patients under 40 years of age. The *Helling* plaintiff argued that the trial court's refusal to give her proposed instructions prevented her from

arguing her theory of the case to the jury that the standard of care for ophthalmologists was inadequate to protect her, at age 32, from glaucoma. 83 Wn.2d at 519. The appropriate time for Plaintiffs to have raised the *Helling* issue would have been prior to the jury's verdict, or, at the very latest, in one of plaintiff's post-trial motions. But they did not. Plaintiffs gambled on the outcome of the trial, and, disappointed with the result, present a theory to this Court they failed to present to the trial court. The Court's decision on plaintiffs' *Helling* argument on appeal can and should end with a finding that plaintiffs waived the argument by failing to first present it to the trial court.

### 2. The *Helling* Holding is Restricted to its Facts.

At least two Court of Appeals cases have held that the *Helling* holding should not be used outside of that particular case. "The ruling in Helling was intended to be restricted solely to its own unique facts." *Swanson v. Brigham*, 18 Wn. App. 647, 651, 571 P.2d 217, 219 (1977). "A thorough analysis of that [*Helling*] decision leads us to conclude the holding there was intended to be restricted solely to its own 'unique' facts, *i.e.*, cases in which an ophthalmologist is alleged to have failed to test for glaucoma under the same or similar circumstances." *Meeks v. Marx*, 15 Wn. App. 571, 576-77, 550 P.2d 1158, 1162 (1976). In line with those decisions, the *Helling* case has been cited infrequently since 1977 and

never again for the extraordinary<sup>4</sup> proposition that the judiciary can change and define the standard of care for an industry. This Court should not be the first to use the *Helling* case as an opportunity to re-define the standard of care for sledding area operators.

## 3. <u>Installing a Snow Berm or Barrier is Nothing Like</u> Doing a Test for Glaucoma.

If *Helling* is considered to have some impact on the law as it applies to this case at all, it would stand generally for the proposition that industry custom is not conclusive on the issue of negligence. However, no one argued to the jury that industry custom was dispositive of the negligence issue, only that industry custom was evidence of what should be done by a sledding area operator exercising reasonable care. While an industry custom may not conclusively establish reasonable care, a jury verdict that the Mountaineers was not negligent *is* conclusive on the issue. There are numerous reasons why plaintiffs' *Helling* argument breaks down under scrutiny. First, the pressure tests in *Helling*, which were then routinely given to persons over 40, are simple, inexpensive, reliable and risk-free. In this case there was heavily disputed testimony about whether constructing a berm or barrier was a simple, reliable, and "risk-free"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Supreme Court has since described *Helling* case as a product of "exceptional circumstances[.]" *Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., P.S.*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 451-52, 663 P.2d 113, 120 (1983). *See also Gates v. Jensen*, 92 Wn.2d 246, 252-54, 595 P.2d 919, 923-24 (1979) ("Helling v. Carey was an unusual case.").

method for preventing the outcome in this case.

Mr. Stoddard referred to accidents he had investigated where people were injured using sledding facilities with the type of berm proposed by Gill. 5/28 RP 81:20-85:5. He had also investigated accidents where people skiing or snow tubing were injured running into the orange fencing that Gill proposed. 5/28 RP 87:11-88:23. Finally, Mr. Stoddard explained why Gill's suggestion that the Mountaineers put hay bales on the access path would not be appropriate since hay bales collect moisture, freeze, and become solid bricks and thus create an obstacle that would cause injury if someone ran into it on a sled. 5/28 RP 89:6-90:18. If someone riding a sled runs into an obstacle such as a snow berm, a fence, or a hay bale, there is the potential for a very severe injury. 5/28 RP 90:19-91:23. Even plaintiffs' expert Richard Gill admitted that the methods of barricading the path he proposed using snow berms, fencing, or hay bales could cause accidents or injuries. 5/20 RP 169:13-21. Since plaintiffs' expert acknowledged on cross-examination that the barriers he proposed were all capable of causing harm to guests, these measures cannot be equated to the "simple, harmless" pressure test for glaucoma that was discussed in *Helling*.

Second, the *Helling* trial featured "undisputed medical expert testimony" on the standard of care for eye pressure tests. 83 Wn.2d at

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